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The directors of Norfolk Metals Limited (“Norfolk" or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries, (“the Group”) submit 
herewith the financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2024. The Company was incorporated 

on 30 July 2021. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the directors report as 
follows:  

 

DIRECTORS 

 

The names and particulars of the directors of the Company in office during the year and until the date of this 

report are as follows. Directors were in office for the entire year unless otherwise stated. 

 

Director Position 

Ben Phillips Executive Chairman (Appointed 30 July 2021) 

Patrick Holywell Non-Executive Director (Appointed 8 October 2021) 

Leonardo Pilapil Technical Director (Appointed 30 July 2021) 

 
The name of the secretary in office at any time during or since the end of the year is: 

 

Company Secretary Position 

Arron Canicais Company Secretary (Appointed 19 August 2021) 

 

OPERATING RESULTS  
 
The Group has incurred a net loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2024 of $645,949 (2023: $771,491).  

 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
During the year to 30 June 2024, six (6) meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director during 

the year were as follows: 

 

 Directors’ Meetings 

Director Number Eligible to Attend Number Attended 

Ben Phillips 6 6 

Patrick Holywell 6 6 

Leonardo Pilapil 5 6 

 

Directors’ other formal business was conducted via circular resolution. 

 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 
 

Information Directors at the date of this report as follows: 

 

Ben Phillips  

EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN  

 
Mr. Phillips has over 15 years experience in commercial negotiations with a broad spectrum of industries including 

Oil and Gas, Resources, Medical technology, SaaS and Defence. Mr. Phillips advises departments ranging from 
R&D and exploration through to production, commercialisation and sales. Mr. Phillips previously held a Non-

Executive Director position at Bronson Group BGR:ASX and subsequently Mandrake Resources (ASX:MAN).  Mr. 

Phillips also sits as Non-Executive Director at Many Peaks Minerals Ltd (ASX:MPK) 
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Interest in shares and options at 
the date of this report 

 1,775,000 Ordinary Shares 

2,130,000 Unquoted Options 

839,000 NFLO Quoted Options 

560,000 Performance Rights  

Directorships held in other listed 
entities (last 3 years) 

 Many Peaks Minerals Limited (appointed 1 February 2024) 

 

Patrick Holywell  

NON- EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR  

 
Mr Holywell has twenty years of experience in accounting, finance and corporate governance, including 
employment at Deloitte and Patersons (now Canaccord Genuity) as well as director, company secretary and CFO 

roles. He has held roles with various companies particularly in the resources, technology and health sectors. Mr 

Holywell is a Chartered Accountant, Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia and Graduate of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 

 
Interest in shares and options at 
the date of this report 

 930,000 Unquoted Options 

333,333 NFLO Quoted Options 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities (last 3 years) 

 Si6 Metals Limited (resigned 12 August 2022) 

 
Leonardo Pilapil  

TECHNICAL DIRECTOR  

 

Mr Leo Pilapil has over 30 years’ experience as a Geoscientist and 3 years as a Financial Planner. As a geoscientist, 

he has held Director Positions for several junior companies in Australia, Africa and Turkey, mainly responsible for 

technical project evaluations, project acquisitions, project management and business development. Mr Pilapil was 

responsible for the discovery of the Harlequin Gold Deposit (1Moz) under salt lake conditions in Norseman WA 

Australia and has also been responsible for the mine extensions and discoveries of several ore deposits in 

Australia, Africa, Turkey and more recently in Laos PDR. He has developed an expertise in ‘Prospect to Mine’ 

process through his vast experience in exploration and mining. 

 

In the last 18 years, Mr Pilapil has been working as a Geological Consultant for various companies around the 

world including Aditya Birla (Australia), Alacer Gold Corporation (Turkey), African Uranium (Namibia, Africa) and 

NIKKI Lao (Laos PDR). In the past 7 years, combining his sound business knowledge, Mr Pilapil established 

drilling companies in Turkey and Laos PDR servicing several major exploration and mining companies to 

complement the acquisition of his own personal projects. 

 
Interest in shares and options at 
the date of this report 

 

 830,000 Unquoted Options  

333,333 NFLO Quoted Options 

Directorships held in other listed 
entities (last 3 years) 

 Nil 

 
Arron Canicais  
COMPANY SECRETARY  
 

Mr Canicais is the founder of Explorer Corporate Pty Ltd, which specialises in corporate advice and compliance 
administration to public companies. Mr Canicais has been involved in financial reporting and corporate compliance 

for over 17 years. Mr Canicais is an associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants and Governance 
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Institute of Australia. Mr Canicais is currently also Company Secretary and CFO for various ASX listed and unlisted 
entities. 
 
Remuneration Report (Audited) 

 
A. Details of remuneration 

 
Details of remuneration of the directors and key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures) of Norfolk Metals Limited are set out in the following table. 

 

The key management personnel of Norfolk Metals Limited are the directors as previously described earlier in the 
Directors’ Report, and other personnel as determined by the Board.  

 
The Company does not have any other employees who are required to have their remuneration disclosed in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the Directors and 

Executive Officers. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments of such 
officers on a yearly basis by reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of 

ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high-quality board and executive team. The 
expected outcome of this remuneration structure is to retain and motivate Directors and Executive Officers.  

 

As part of its Corporate Governance Policies and Procedures, the board has adopted a formal Remuneration 
Committee Charter and Remuneration Policy. The Board has elected not to establish a remuneration committee 

based on the size of the organisation and has instead agreed to meet as deemed necessary and allocate the 
appropriate time at its board meetings. 

 

Fees and payments to non‑executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities 
of, the directors. Non‑executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Chair’s 

fees are determined independently to the fees of non‑executive directors based on comparative roles in the 
external market. Non‑executive directors do not receive performance-based pay. 

 
Additional Fees 

A Director may also be paid fees or other amounts as the Directors determine if a director performs special duties 

or otherwise performs services outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a director. A Director may also be 
reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred as a result of their directorship or any special duties. 

 
The table below shows the 2024 financial year figures for remuneration received by the Company’s key 

management personnel: 

 

Short Term Post-employment 
Share-based 

Payments 

Total 

$ 

Salary &  
Fees 

$ 

Bonus 

$ 

Other 
benefits 

$ 

Super-
annuation 

$ 

Prescribe
d benefits 

$ 

Options or 

Performance 
right 

$ 

2024        
Ben Phillips 127,500 - - - - - 127,500 

Patrick Holywell 53,000 - - - - - 53,000 
Leonardo Pilapil 104,414 - - - - - 104,414 

 284,914 - - - - - 284,914 
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The table below shows the 2023 financial year figures for remuneration received by the Company’s key 

management personnel: 

 

Short Term Post-employment 
Share-based 

Payments 

Total 

$ 

Salary &  

Fees 

$ 

Bonus 

$ 

Other 

benefits 

$ 

Super-

annuation 

$ 

Prescribe

d benefits 

$ 

Options or 
Performance 

right 

$ 

2023        

Ben Phillips 105,000 30,000 - - - 32,947 167,947 

Patrick Holywell 48,000 - - - - 32,947 80,947 
Leonardo Pilapil 93,326 - - - - 32,947 126,273 

 246,326 30,000 - - - 98,841 375,167 

 
B. Directors’ equity holdings 

 
(i) Fully paid ordinary shares of Norfolk Metals Limited: 

 

Balance at  

1 July 2023  

No. 

Granted as 

remuneration 

No. 

Net  
other 

change 

No. 

At date of 

resignation 

No. 

Balance at  
30 June 

2024 

No. 
2024      

Directors      
Ben Phillips 1,517,001 - 257,999 - 1,775,000 

Patrick Holywell - - - - - 

Leonardo Pilapil - - - - - 

 1,517,001 - 257,999 - 1,775,000 

 
 

 

Balance at  
1 July 2022  

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Net  

other 
change 

No. 

At date of 
resignation 

No. 

Balance at  

30 June 
2023 

No. 

2023      
Directors      

Ben Phillips 1,442,001 - 75,000 - 1,517,001 
Patrick Holywell - - - - - 

Leonardo Pilapil - - - - - 

 1,442,001 - 75,000 - 1,517,001 

 
 

(ii) Performance rights of Norfolk Metals Limited: 

 

Balance at  
1 July 2023 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Net  

other 
change 

No. 

At date of 
resignation 

No. 

Balance at  

30 June 
2024 

No. 

2024      
Directors      

Ben Phillips 560,000 - - - 560,000 
Patrick Holywell - - - - - 

Leonardo Pilapil - - - - - 

 560,000 - - - 560,000 
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Balance at  
1 July 2022  

No. 

Granted as 

remunerati
on 

No. 

Net  

other 
change 

No. 

At date of 
resignation 

No. 

Balance at  

30 June 
2023 

No. 

2023      
Directors      

Ben Phillips 560,000 - - - 560,000 
Patrick Holywell - - - - - 

Leonardo Pilapil - - - - - 

 560,000 - - - 560,000 

 

 
(iii) Options of Norfolk Metals Limited: 

 

Balance at  
1 July 2023 

No. 

Granted as 

remunerati
on 

No. 

Net  

other 
change 

No. 

At date of 
resignation 

No. 

Balance at  

30 June 
2024 

No. 

2024      
Directors      

Ben Phillips 2,635,666 - 333,334 - 2,969,000 
Patrick Holywell 930,000 - 333,333 - 1,263,333 

Leonardo Pilapil 830,000 - 333,333 - 1,163,333 

 4,395,666 - 1,000,000 - 5,395,666 

 
 

 

Balance at  

1 July 2022 
No. 

Granted as 
remunerati

on 
No. 

Net  
other 

change 
No. 

At date of 

resignation 
No. 

Balance at  
30 June 

2023 
No. 

2023      

Directors      
Ben Phillips 1,800,000 330,000 505,666 - 2,635,666 

Patrick Holywell 600,000 330,000 - - 930,000 
Leonardo Pilapil 500,000 330,000 - - 830,000 

 2,900,000 990,000 505,666 - 4,395,666 

 

C. Loans to / from key management personnel 
 

There were no loans to or from key management personnel in the 2023 and 2024 financial years.  
 

D. Employment Contracts of Directors and Executives 
 

The Company will pay Mr Phillips a base salary of $138,000 per annum (exclusive of superannuation and GST). 

The executive service agreement continues on a rolling term until it is terminated in accordance with its terms. 
The Company or Mr Phillips may terminate the executive services Agreement at any time during the term by 

giving not less than 3 months’ notice.  
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E. Share-based payments 

 
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the grant date. The fair value determined at the grant date of the share-based 

payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of equity 
instruments that will eventually vest with a corresponding increase in equity.  

 
 

ITEM 

VALUE OF 
INPUT 

Directors  
Options 
FY2023 

Fair value per 
instrument 

$0.0998 

Expected volatility 100% 

Implied option life 4 years 

Expected dividend 
yield 

Nil 

Risk free rate 3.30% 

Exercise Share Price $0.30 

Underlying share price 
at grant date 

$0.165 

Total Fair Value 98,841 

 
 

F. Other Related Party Transactions 

 

There were no other transactions with related parties in the 2023 and 2024 financial years. 
 

G. Results and Dividends 
 

Remuneration is not linked to past group performance but rather towards generating future shareholder wealth 
through share price performance. Norfolk Metals listed on 22 March 2022 at 20 cents per share and the share 

price as at 30 June 2024 was 13 cents (2023: 15 cents). The Company has recorded a loss each financial year 
to date as it carries out exploration activities on its tenements. No dividends have been paid. 
 

 2024 2023 

Net Profit/(loss) attributable to 
equity holders of the Company 

 
(645,949) (771,491) 

Dividends paid - - 

Change in share price (0.2) cents 1.5 cents 

 
 

END OF REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED).  
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
 
Norfolk Metals currently holds the Orroroo Uranium Project in South Australia and the Roger River Gold Project 
in Tasmania. Over the last 12 months the following activities occurred: 

 

 

ORROROO URANIUM PROJECT 
 

• Maiden drill campaign completed successfully delineating uranium mineralisation in 
10 of 17 holes drilled  

 

• Exploration continued with land access engagements, geophysics and subsequent 

drill program(s) planning  

 
• Maiden Drilling Campaign, Radiation Safety Report and all required Rehabilitation 

Works as well as compliance reporting have been completed at Orroroo  

 
 

ROGER RIVER GOLD PROJECT  
 

• Soil study completed with successful reanalysis of historical samples  

 

• Tenure evaluation and relocation of maiden drilling diamond drill core to Mineral 

Resources Tasmania storage facility  

 
CORPORATE  
 

• Norfolk completed two placements for a cumulative total of A$1,415,746  
 

• Annual Environmental Social and Governance report published  

 

• Norfolk continues to evaluate project acquisitions and investments as they are 
sourced and presented to the board  

 
• Strong financial position with circa $3.1M cash at year end  

 
Orroroo Uranium Project  
The primary achievements for Norfolk during the year ending June 30th 2024, have been the targeting, 
planning, local access, additional funding, drill permitting and maiden drill program execution at Orroroo. 

 
Local Stakeholder Access  
 

On the 5th of October 2023 the Company announced successfully executing Land Access Agreements 

(Agreements) with seven (7) freehold landowners within EL6552. These Agreements had been prepared in order 
to facilitate the maiden drilling program (Program). The planned Program was to consist of up to twenty (20) 

RAB (rotary mud) holes up to one hundred and sixty metres (160m) deep within the approved area(s) and 
pending roadside approvals. 

 

Targeting and Planning  
 

On the 9th of November 2023 the Company released a “Mineralisation Targeting & Maiden Drill Program” 
presentation outlining the planning of the Company. The Company noted the uranium source rocks appear to 
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be part of the Adelaidean Basement on the western edge of the modern-day creeks. Possible uranium source 
rocks could be granites or units such as the Brighton Limestone known to contain levels of uranium. 

 
Drill Permitting Approvals 

 

Norfolk received all necessary approvals to commence drilling late November 2023. A formal approval letter was 
received from the South Australian Department of Energy and Mining (DEM) for the proposed Exploration 

Program for Environment Protection and Rehabilitation (EPEPR) confirming that Norfolk’s maiden drill program 
can commence on EL6552 (the Orroroo Project). This milestone approval was the major catalyst for the 

mobilisation of associated contractors to Orroroo. The approvals were the accumulation of over a year of 

continuous engagement with the primary stakeholders and landowners of Orroroo and EL6552.  
 

Maiden Drill Program Execution 
 

The maiden drill program was completed over two phases (Phase 1 and Phase 2) due to the Christmas holiday 

break. On the 21st of December 2023, the Company announced the initial results of the first twelve (12) holes 
with a subsequent five (5) holes drilled after Christmas being announced on the 7th of February 2024. 

 

 

 
Figure 1. Targeting and planning for prospective uranium source and target locations 
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Figure 2. Uranium *peak grade occurrences delineated by Norfolk Metals via Phase 1 drilling 

and February 2023 downhole geophysical survey 

*peak grade(s) noted are the direct detection of pU308 over a 0.02m interval by Prompt Fission Neutron downhole logging within a composite intersection 
with a cut-off grade greater than 100ppm pU308. See previous ASX announcement from 27th February 2023 regarding uranium value reported at Well 7P3 
(650ppm pU308). 

 

The 21st of December 2023 announcement noted that towards the completion of drilling at Target areas 1,2 and 

4, (see Figure 1.) the second hole at Target 4 (ORMR007) was tested with a Prompt Fission Neutron (PFN) tool 

across the horizon of elevated gamma returning a value of 147ppm pU308 over 0.36m with a peak reading 

of 796ppm pU308 (see Figure 2.). This was a positive reconfirmation of the previously reported uranium 

occurrence via spectral gamma logging of historical Linc Energy drill holes (see ASX announcement on 27th 

February 2023).  

Norfolk expanded Phase 1 of the maiden drill program further afield from the initial targets testing the previously 

released regional REDOX model of the Walloway Basin (see announcement 6th July 2023) within the approved 

drilling areas of EL6552. Two (2) of five (5) holes drilled returned very encouraging results with peak 

values of 453ppm pU308 at ORMR008 and 538ppm pU308 at ORMR009 (see Figure 2.)  
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Figure 3. Orroroo Project Regional Cross Section 
* Please note that some drill holes deliberately omitted for illustration only (scale) 

 

On the 7th of February 2024, Norfolk advised that Phase 2 drilling had been completed with a further 5 holes 

drilled across EL6552, taking the total number of holes completed in the maiden program to seventeen (17). 

Phase 2 of the program sought to test the palaeochannel model at the Wongway Creek Target (Formerly Target 

1) where suitable drill access was available. A total of three (3) holes were drilled along the river traverse of the 

Wongway Creek Target testing both upstream and downstream regions. One (1) hole was drilled downstream 

of the No Name Creek Target (formerly Target 3) as well as the Rankin Rd Target (formerly Target 4). The 

completion of the maiden drill program has successfully delineated uranium in ten (10) of the seventeen (17) 

holes providing data for the Company to further develop a geological model of the Walloway Basin (Figure 3). 

Most importantly, the program interpreted a uranium bearing floodplain (see Figures 3. and 4.) 

intersected upstream of Wongway Creek which gives Norfolk confidence in the palaeochannel 

model and future exploration efforts can be planned accordingly. 
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Figure 4. Phase 1 and Phase 2 Drill Location Plan and cross section reference  
 

Continued Exploration  

The completion and interpretation of the maiden drill program at Orroroo further increased the understanding 
and potential of the project while providing valuable data along with additional district scale targets concluding 

the below: 
 

• Orroroo project value proposition as a potential new uranium district known as the Walloway Basin in 

Australia's favoured uranium state has been further proven and de-risked; 

 

• Norfolk has embarked on the future planning and approvals for Orroroo with a focus on the potential 

close proximity of a uranium-bearing floodplains to the floodplain interpreted near the Wongway target 
while remaining aware of the district scale opportunities; and, 

 

• Future planning utilising various geophysical techniques and stakeholder engagements will endeavour 

to ensure flexibility in follow-up drill program(s). 
 

Subsequent to Period End 

Throughout July 2024 Norfolk completed a site visit to Orroroo with additional geologists for interpretation of 
the region, Drilling Campaign Radiation Safety Report and all required Rehabilitation Works. 
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Roger River Gold/Copper Project, Tasmania 
 
Exploration Activities 

During the year ending June 30th 2024, Norfolk was continuing the work to obtain a better understanding of the 
copper and gold mineralisation at Roger River to guide the next exploration phase. The Company completed 

determining if all of the preferred historical soil samples (not sampled for Cu) over the White Water and A2 
Prospects could be re-submitted for Cu (multi-elements) analysis. The Company finalised the program submitting 

148 historical pulp soil samples along with 98 new surface samples collected on a 200 x 100m grid around A2 

covering an area of approximately 1.2km x 1.5km (see Figure 5.) for multi-element analyses to ALS in Burnie, 

Tasmania.  

Subsequently, Norfolk was able to receive, interpret and map the results of the soil study. The results show a 
continuous Cu anomaly around A4 and A5 prospects located along the interpreted fault splay from the RRF (see 

Figure 6).  
 

This anomalous trend has coincident Pb Zn and Mo anomalies. The RRF also shows a strong continuous As 

anomaly over the 4km strike length (see Figure 7). Gold mineralisation is mainly associated with iron and arsenic 
minerals such as pyrite and arsenopyrite. During the oxidation process the arsenic is the more mobile element, 

moves further away from the source and therefore becomes a useful geochemical pathfinder for gold 
mineralisation. 

 

 

Figure 5. Soil study new and historical sample locations 
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Figure 6 and Figure 7: Respectively displaying a Cu soil contour within the interpreted splays 
and the As soil contour as a continuous anomaly over the RRF structure. 
 

Norfolk continues to liaise and engage with Mineral Resources Tasmania regarding the tenure size and exploration 
budget(s) of the permits held at Roger River and surrounds.  

 

Subsequent to Period End 
Norfolk was recently onsite completing the required works to package and label all diamond drill core stored at 

the previously tenanted residence in Smithton to have the core shipped to Mineral Resources Tasmania storage 
facility.   

 

Corporate Update  
 
Placements from for a cumulative total of A$1,415,746 
On the 22nd of November 2023 the Company confirmed it has received firm commitments from professional and 

sophisticated investors for a strategic placement to raise A$1,000,000 via the issue of 5,000,000 fully paid 

ordinary shares the Company at an issue price of A$0.20 per Placement Share. The Placement was firmly 
oversubscribed with several current major shareholders corner stoning the raise to further solidify the top holders 

position and Company share structure. 
 

During the reporting period, Norfolk completed a second placement to strategic professional and sophisticated 
investors to raise $415,746.45 (before costs) through the issue of 2,771,643 fully paid ordinary shares at an 

issue price of A$0.15 per New Share under capacity of ASX Listing Rule 7.1. 
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ESG Report  
The Company’s second Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) report was published for stakeholders with 

an overview of how the Company has integrated ESG considerations into its operations. This report includes 
updates on Norfolk’s actions and efforts on the ESG topics that were deemed most material to the Company’s 

sustainable success. The reporting period for this report is Calendar Year 2023 (CY23 or Reporting Period). This 

report has been facilitated by Norfolk’s ESG Advisors, Automic ESG, based on the organisational boundary of 
Norfolk Metals Limited.  

  
Norfolk committed to ESG reporting prior to listing on the ASX. Norfolk Metals ESG reporting framework 

incorporates the following Standards: United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), Global Reporting 

Initiative (GRI), and the Taskforce on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD).   
  

The report can be viewed on the Company website under the Sustainability tab. 
 

Competent Persons Statement  

 
The information in this Annual Report that relates to exploration results, is based on, and fairly represents, 

information and supporting documentation prepared by Mr Leo Pilapil, a competent person who is a member of 
the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Mr Pilapil has a minimum of five years’ experience which is 

relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a competent person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Joint Ore Reserves Committee 

Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Mr Pilapil is a related 

party of the Company, being the Technical Director, and holds securities in the Company. Mr Pilapil has consented 
to the inclusion in this Annual Report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which 

it appears. 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  
 
Norfolk is an exploration Company with projects prospective for uranium in South Australia (Orroroo Project) and 

gold in Tasmania (Roger River Project). 

 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE  
 

At the time of this report there were no events subsequent to the reporting date that required disclosure. 

 

DISCLOSURE OF BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS – 
MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS 
The material business risks faced by the company that are likely to have an effect on the financial prospects of 
the company are disclosed below and how the company manages these risks include: 

 
Tenure Risk: 

The Company’s Tenements are subject to the applicable mining acts and regulations in South Australia and 

Tasmania, pursuant to which mining, and exploration tenements are subject to periodic renewal. The renewal of 
the term of a granted tenement is also subject to the discretion of the relevant Minister. There is no guarantee 

that current or future tenements or future applications for production tenements will be approved.  

 
Renewal conditions may include increased expenditure and work commitments or compulsory relinquishment of 

areas of the tenements comprising the Company’s Projects. The imposition of new conditions or the inability to 

meet those conditions may adversely affect the operations, financial position or performance of the Company. 
There can be no guarantee that a renewal will be approved. If the Company is unable to secure a renewal for 

these Tenements this may impact the Company’s exploration plans for the Projects and may adversely impact 
the Company or the value of its Shares. Prior to any development on any of its properties, the Company must 

receive licences from appropriate governmental authorities.  
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There is no certainty that the Group will hold all licences necessary to develop or continue operating at any 
particular property. The Company considers the likelihood of tenure forfeiture to be moderate given the laws and 

regulations governing exploration in South Australia and Tasmania and the ongoing expenditure being budgeted 
by the Company. However, the consequences of forfeiture or involuntary surrender of a granted tenement for 

reasons beyond the control of the Company could be considered significant. 

 
Similarly, the rights to mining tenure carry with them various obligations which the holder is required to comply 
with in order to ensure the continued good standing of the licence and, specifically, obligations in regard to 

minimum expenditure levels and responsibilities in respect of the environment and safety. To assist with the 
Company’s obligations, Norfolk has hired the services of consultants to continuously monitor the status and 

reporting requirements of all tenements to ensure compliance reporting standards are met. 

 
Failure to observe these requirements could prejudice the right to maintain title to a given area and result in 
government action to forfeit a licence or licences. There is no guarantee that current or future exploration 

applications or existing licence renewals will be granted, that they will be granted without undue delay, or that 
the Company can economically comply with any conditions imposed on any granted exploration permits. The 

Tenements may be relinquished either in total or in part even though a viable mineral deposit may be present, 
in the event that: 

• exploration or production programs yield negative results; 

• insufficient funding is available; 

• environmental offsets are required; 

• such a tenement is considered by the Company to not meet the risk / reward or other criteria of the 

Company;  

• its relative perceived prospectivity is less than that of other tenements in the Company’s portfolio, which 

take a higher priority; or a variety of other reasons.  
Further, a number of the Tenements are pending applications. There is a risk that the applications for Tenements 

may not be granted in their entirety or only granted on conditions unacceptable to the Company 
 

Nature of Mineral Exploration: 

Mineral exploration and development is considered a high-risk undertaking. There is no guarantee that 
exploration of the Projects will result in the discovery of an economically viable resource. Even if an apparently 

viable resource is discovered, there is no guarantee that the resource can be economically exploited. Exploration 
on the Company’s Projects may be unsuccessful, resulting in a reduction of the value of those Projects, diminution 

in the cash reserves of the Company and possible relinquishment of such Projects.  

 
The proposed exploration costs of the are based on certain assumptions with respect to the method and timing 

of exploration. By their nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to significant uncertainties and, 

accordingly, the actual costs may materially differ from these estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, no 
assurance can be given that the cost estimates and the underlying assumptions will be realised in practice which 

may materially and adversely affect the Company’s ability to complete the exploration programs as planned. 
 

Operational Risk: 

The operations of the Company may be affected by various factors, including failure to locate or identify mineral 
deposits, failure to achieve predicted grades in exploration and mining, operational and technical difficulties 

encountered in mining, difficulties in commissioning and operating plant and equipment, mechanical failure or 
plant breakdown, unanticipated metallurgical problems which may affect extraction costs, adverse weather 

conditions, industrial and environmental accidents, hazardous ground conditions, industrial disputes and 
unexpected shortages or increases in the costs of consumables, spare parts, plant and equipment.  

 
Even though the Directors have between them significant mineral exploration and operational experience, no 

assurance can be given that the Company will achieve commercial viability through the successful exploration 
and mining of its Tenements. Until the Company is able to realise value from its Projects, it likely to incur ongoing 

operating losses. 
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Private land, Reserve Land and Land Access Risk: 
The Company's interests in the Tenements are subject to Commonwealth and applicable state legislation and 

cannot be guaranteed. The Company may be required to obtain the consent of and / or compensate holders of 
third-party interests which overlay areas within the Tenements. The Tenements overlap certain third-party 

interests that may limit the Company's ability to conduct exploration activities including Crown land, proposed 

Crown reserves, pastoral leases and areas covered by native title determinations. The Company’s projects fall 
principally on private agricultural land that is intersected by multiple road reserves. Should substantial discovery 

be made, however, the Company will need to obtain the consent of any relevant private land owners and 
occupiers. This typically involves negotiating land access agreements with those parties which will likely require 

the Company to pay compensation to those parties for any exploration activities undertaken on it. Any delays in 

respect of conflicting third-party rights, obtaining necessary consents, or compensation obligations, may 
adversely impact the Company's ability to carry out exploration activities within the affected areas. 

 
Project Delays and Cost Overruns: 

The Company's ability to successfully explore, develop and potentially commercialise its Projects may be affected 

by factors including project delays and costs overruns. If the Company experiences project delays or cost 
overruns, this could result in the Company not realising its operational or development plans or result in such 

plans costing more than expected or taking longer to realise than expected. 
 

Native Title and Aboriginal Heritage: 
In relation to the Tenements or any tenements that the Company may in the future acquire an interest in, there 

may be areas over which legitimate common law Native Title rights may exist. If such Native Title rights do exist, 

the ability of the Company to gain access to such tenements (through obtaining consent of any relevant native 
title holders) or to progress from the exploration phase to the development and mining phase of operations may 

be adversely affected.  

 
As at the date of this report, a number of the Tenements are subject to Native Title determinations and Native 

Title claims. The grant of any future tenure to the Company over areas that are covered by registered claims or 

determinations will require engagement with the relevant claimants or native title holders (as relevant) in 
accordance with the associated Native Title Act.  

 
The Company must comply with Aboriginal heritage legislation requirements which may include the requirement 
to conduct heritage survey work prior to the commencement of operations. The Company is aware of various 

areas of indigenous significance and Aboriginal heritage sites of considerable cultural value both to the local 
indigenous communities and the broader community which affect the Tenements. It is also possible that 

additional Aboriginal heritage sites may be identified on the land the subject of the Tenements. These Aboriginal 

heritage sites require the Company to comply with all relevant the Aboriginal Heritage Acts in respect of any 
ground disturbing activities and any applicable agreements that may be in place with the relevant Traditional 

Owners. Prior to commencing significant ground disturbing activities, including exploration, the Company will 
need to consult with the relevant local Traditional Owners regarding the likely impact that the proposed activities 

may have on such areas. There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to deal with Aboriginal heritage 

issues in a satisfactory or timely manner and accordingly such issues may increase the proposed time periods for 
the conduct of the Company’s proposed activities, lead to increased costs for such activities (in obtaining the 

required consents and/or approvals) and also limit the Company’s ability to conduct its proposed activities on the 
relevant Tenement.  

 
Reliance on Key Personnel: 

Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel are important to the Company’s success. The number of persons 

skilled in the exploration and development of mining properties is limited and competition for such persons is 
strong. There can be no assurance that there will be no detrimental impact on the Company if such persons 

employed by the Company from time to time cease their employment with the Company. 
 

Commodity prices: 

The Company’s future prospects, and the share price will be influenced by the prices obtained for the commodities 
produced and targeted in the Company’s development and exploration programs. Commodity prices fluctuate 
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and are impacted by factors including the relationship between global supply and demand for minerals, forward 
selling by producers, costs of production, geopolitical factors (including trade tensions), hostilities and general 

global economic conditions. Commodity prices are also affected by the outlook for inflation, interest rates, 
currency exchange rates and supply and demand factors. These factors may have an adverse effect on Company’s 

production and exploration activities and any subsequent development and production activities, as well as its 

ability to fund its future activities. 
 

Future funding requirements: 
The Company’s activities will require expenditure going forward and any additional equity financing required may 

be undertaken at lower prices than the current market price or may involve restrictive covenants which limit the 

Company’s operations and business strategy. Although the Company believes additional funding can be obtained, 
no assurances can be made appropriate funding will be available on terms favourable to the Company or at all. 

If Company is unable to obtain additional financing as required, it may be required to scale back its exploration 
and development program. In addition, the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern may be diminished.  

 

Economic factors:  
The operating and financial performance of the Company is influenced by a variety of general economic and 

business conditions, including levels of consumer spending, oil prices, inflation, interest rates and exchange rates, 
supply and demand, industrial disruption, access to debt and capital markets and government fiscal, monetary 

and regulatory policies. Changes in general economic conditions may result from many factors including 
government policy, international economic conditions, significant acts of terrorism, hostilities or war or natural 

disasters. A prolonged deterioration in general economic conditions, including an increase in interest rates or a 

decrease in consumer and business demand, could be expected to have an adverse impact on the Company’s 
operating and financial performance and financial position. The Company’s future possible revenues and share 

price can be affected by these factors, which are beyond the control of the Company.  
 

Occupational health and safety:  

Exploration and production activities may expose the Company’s staff and contractors to potentially dangerous 
working environments. Occupational health and safety legislation and regulations differ in each jurisdiction. If 

any of the Company’s employees or contractors suffers injury or death, compensation payments or fines may be 
payable and such circumstances could result in the loss of a licence or permit required to carry on the business. 

Such an incident may also have an adverse effect on the Company’s business and reputation.  
 

Environmental Regulation: 

The Group’s operations are subject to environmental regulation under the law in Australia. The Directors monitor 
the Group’s compliance with environmental regulation under law, in relation to its exploration and future mining 

activities. The Directors are not aware of any compliance breach arising during the year and up to the date of 
this report. 

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group other than as referred to elsewhere in this 

consolidated financial report and in the accounts and notes attached thereto. 

 

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS, PROSPECTS AND BUSINESS STRATEGIES 
 
Further information, other than as disclosed the Directors’ Report, about likely developments in the operations 

of the Company and the expected results of those operations in future years has not been included in this report 

as disclosure of this information would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES, REGULATIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
 
The Group’s operations are regulated by significant environmental regulation under a law of the Commonwealth 

or of a state or territory. The Group is, to the best of its knowledge, at all times in full environmental compliance 
with the conditions of its licences. 

 
There are a range of requirements that must be met when undertaking exploration activities, including seeking 

approval depending on the nature of the activities and undertaking rehabilitation once activities are complete. 

Bonds are payable prior to the commencement of exploration activities and are returned on satisfactory 
completion of rehabilitation. Norfolk Metals Limited conducts its exploration activities in an environmentally 

sensitive manner and the Group is not aware of any breach of statutory conditions or obligations. 
 

DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividends were paid or declared during the year. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend 

in respect of the financial year. 

 

OPTIONS ON ISSUE 
 

At the date of this report, there are currently 10,999,808 NFLO quoted options and 9,990,000 unlisted options 
on issue. 

 

INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS 
 

The Company has entered into Indemnity Deeds with each Director. Under the Deeds, the Company indemnifies 
each Director to the maximum extent permitted by law against legal proceedings or claims made against or 

incurred by the Directors in connection with being a Director of the Company, or breach by the Company of its 
obligations under the Deed. 

 

During the period the amount paid for Directors and Officers insurance was $22,167 (2023: $29,421). 
 

PROCEEDING ON BEHALF OF COMPANY 
 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company 
for all or any part of those proceedings. 

 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory duties where the 

auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or Group are important. No non-audit services were 
provided by the Company’s current auditors in financial years 2023 and 2024.  

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

In recognising the need for the highest standards of corporate behaviour and accountability, the Directors of 
Norfolk Metals Limited support and adhere to the principles of sound corporate governance. The Board recognises 

the recommendations of the Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Council and considers that 
Norfolk Metals Limited complies to the extent possible with those guidelines, which are of importance and add 

value to the commercial operation of an ASX listed resources company. 

 
The Company has established a set of corporate governance policies and procedures, and these can be found 

on the Company’s website: https://norfolkmetals.com.au/ 



DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

 

NORFOLK METALS LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT Page 20 

 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
in relation to the audit for the year is set out on page 21 of this report. 

 
This report is presented in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on behalf 

of the directors pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001, by: 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Ben Phillips 
Executive Chairman 

Perth, Western Australia this 27th day of September 2024



 

 

 

To the Board of Directors, 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 

 

 

As lead audit Director for the audit of the financial statements of Norfolk Metals Limited for the year 

ended 30 June 2024, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 

contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

Yours Faithfully 

 

 

 

HALL CHADWICK WA AUDIT PTY LTD  MARK DELAURENTIS  CA 

  Director 

 

 

Dated Perth, Western Australia this 27th day of September 2024 

 

 



 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF NORFOLK METALS LIMITED 

 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Norfolk Metals Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the 

Consolidated Entity”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

financial statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure 

statement and the director’s declaration. 

In our opinion: 

a. the accompanying financial report of the Consolidated Entity is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and 

of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 

1.1.1. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 

of our report.  We are independent of the Consolidated Entity in accordance with the auditor independence 

requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and 

Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant 

to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.



 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 

of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

Exploration Assets 

As disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements, as 

at 30 June 2024, the Consolidated Entity’s 

capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure 

was carried at $2,745,390.  

The recognition and recoverability of the exploration 

assets was considered a key audit matter due to: 

• The significance of the balance to the 

Consolidated Entity’s financial position; 

• The level of judgement required in evaluating 

management’s application of the 

requirements of AASB 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB 6”). 

AASB 6 is an industry specific accounting 

standard requiring the application of 

significant judgements, estimates and 

industry knowledge. This includes specific 

requirements for expenditure to be capitalised 

as an asset and subsequent requirements 

which must be complied with for capitalised 

expenditure to continue to be carried as an 

asset; and 

• The assessment of impairment of mineral 

exploration expenditure being inherently 

difficult 

Our audit procedures included but were not limited 

to: 

• Assessing management’s determination of 

its areas of interest for consistency with the 

definition in AASB 6 Exploration and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources (“AASB 

6”); 

• Assessing the Consolidated Entity’s rights to 

tenure; 

• Testing the Consolidated Entity’s additions 

to capitalised exploration costs for the year 

by evaluating a sample of recorded 

expenditure for consistency to underlying 

records, the capitalisation requirements of 

the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policy 

and the requirements of AASB  

• By testing the status of the Consolidated 

Entity’s tenure and planned future activities, 

reading board minutes and enquiries with 

management we assessed each area of 

interest for one or more of the following 

circumstances that may indicate impairment 

of the capitalised exploration costs: 

o The licenses for the rights to explore 

expiring in the near future or are not 

expected to be renewed; 

o Substantive expenditure for further 

exploration in the area of interest is 

not budgeted or planned; 

o Decision or intent by the 

Consolidated Entity to discontinue 

activities in the specific area of 



 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter 

interest due to lack of commercially 

viable quantities of resources; and 

o Data indicating that, although a 

development in the specific area is 

likely to proceed, the carrying 

amount of the exploration asset is 

unlikely to be recorded in full from 

successful development or sale. 

• We also assessed the appropriateness of 

the related disclosures in note 4 to the 

financial statements. 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Consolidated Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not include the 

financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 

any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 

fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and the 

consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. In Note 1.1.1, the directors also state in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 

101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report complies with International Financial 

Reporting Standards.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Consolidated Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Consolidated Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.   



 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 

financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the Consolidated Entity’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Consolidated Entity’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 

auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Consolidated Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the Consolidated Entity to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Consolidated Entity audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 

our audit.  



 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report 

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2024.  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the remuneration report 

in accordance with s 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 

remuneration report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Norfolk Metals Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2024, complies 

with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 

 

 

HALL CHADWICK WA AUDIT PTY LTD MARK DELAURENTIS CA 

 Director 

 

 

Dated this 27th day of September 2024 

Perth, Western Australia 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 
 

The directors declare that the financial statements and notes set out on pages 28 to 52 are in accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001: 

 
(a) Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001, and other mandatory 

professional reporting requirements;  
 

(b) As stated in Note 1.1.1, the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards; 
 

(c) Give a true and fair view of the financial position of the entity as at 30 June 2024 and of its performance 
for the year ended on that date; and 

 

(d) The consolidated entity disclosure statement on page 52 is true and correct as at 30 June 2024. 
 

In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that Norfolk Metals Limited will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 
This declaration has been made after receiving the declaration required to be made by the Chairman to the 

directors in accordance with sections 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 

2024. 
 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 

For, and on behalf of, the Board of the Company, 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
Ben Phillips 
Executive Chairman 

Perth, Western Australia this 27th day of September 2024 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
 

  

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes, which form an integral part of the financial report. 

 
Note 

30 June 2024 
$ 

30 June 2023 
$ 

     

Interest Income  109,657 42,599 

    

Expenses    

Administration expenses  (75,122) (84,790) 

Employee expenses  (1,360) (4,670) 

Director fees  (221,500) (222,000) 

Professional costs  (153,763) (199,317) 

Marketing and investor relations costs  (98,891) (116,173) 

Exploration expenditure  (122,710) - 

Depreciation expense  (7,562) (9,442) 

Finance expenses  - (4,018) 

Legal and compliance expenses  (85,790) (73,987) 

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  11,092 - 

Foreign currency expense   - (854) 

Share based payment expensed  10 - (98,841) 

Loss before income tax (benefit)/expense  (645,949) (771,491) 

    

Income tax (benefit)/expense 11 - - 

Loss after tax from continuing operations  (645,949) (771,491) 

    

Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive loss net of tax for the year  (645,949) (771,491) 

    

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) 13 (0.018) (0.023) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 30 June 2024 
 
 

 Note 

As At  

30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 

$ 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 2 3,069,724 3,209,542 

Trade and other receivables 3 73,174 168,434 

Total Current Assets  3,142,898 3,377,976 

    

Non-Current assets    

Other assets 6 59,000 34,000 

Exploration Assets 4 2,745,390 1,988,500 

Plant and Equipment 5 10,297 39,804 

Total Non-Current assets  2,814,687 2,062,304 

Total Assets  5,957,585 5,440,280 

    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 7 85,993 186,804 

Other liabilities 8 - 9,810 

Total Current Liabilities  85,993 196,614 

Total Liabilities  85,993 196,614 

Net Assets/(deficit)  5,871,592 5,243,666 

    

Equity    

Issued capital 9 6,740,113 5,524,876  

Reserve 10 1,198,865 1,140,227 

Accumulated losses  (2,067,386) (1,421,437) 

Total Equity   5,871,592 5,243,666 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, 
which form an integral part of the financial report. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
 

 
 Issued 

Capital 

$ 

Reserves 

 

$ 

Accumulated 

Losses 

$ 

Total  

 

$ 

Opening Balance 1 July 2022  5,534,098 1,081,388 (649,946) 5,965,540 

Other Comprehensive loss  - - - - 

Loss for the year  - - (771,491) (771,491) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (771,491) (771,491) 

      

Shares issued during the year 9 - - - - 

Capital raising costs 9 (9,222) - - (9,222) 

Share based payments 10 - 198,839 - 198,839 

Adjustment of contingent 

consideration 
10 

- (140,000) - (140,000) 

Balance at 30 June 2023  5,524,876 1,140,227 (1,421,437) 5,243,666 

 

 
 Issued 

Capital 
$ 

Reserves 

 
$ 

Accumulated 

Losses 
$ 

Total  

 
$ 

Opening Balance 1 July 2023  5,524,876 1,140,227 (1,421,437) 5,243,666 

Other Comprehensive loss  - - - - 

Loss for the year  - - (645,949) (645,949) 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (645,949) (645,949) 

      

Shares issued during the year 9 1,441,246 - - 1,441,246 

Capital raising costs 9 (226,009) - - (226,009) 

Share based payments 10 - 128,638 - 128,638 

Adjustment of contingent 

consideration 

10 
- (70,000) - (70,000) 

Balance at 30 June 2024  6,740,113 1,198,865 (2,067,386) 5,871,592 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, 
which form an integral part of the financial report.  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 
 
 

 

Note 

Consolidated 

30 June 2024 

$ 

Consolidated 

30 June 2023 

$ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Payments to suppliers and employees  (654,244) (557,329) 

Interest received  98,914 15,465 

Net cash (used in) operating activities 19 (555,330) (541,864) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payment for exploration activities   (1,027,894) (785,118) 

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  33,037 - 

Payment for plant and equipment  - (16,356) 

Net cash (used in) investing activities  (994,857) (801,474) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,515,744 - 

Proceeds from issue of options  10,000 - 

Payments of capital raising costs  (107,372) - 

Payment of financial liabilities   (8,003) (43,912) 

Net cash generated/ (used in) financing activities  1,410,369 (43,912) 

    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (139,818) (1,387,250) 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  3,209,542 4,596,792 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2 3,069,724 3,209,542 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes, which 
form an integral part of the financial report. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Norfolk Metals Limited (Norfolk or the Company) is a for-profit company limited by shares, domiciled and 

incorporated in Australia. These financial statements comprise of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively 
the Group). The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. The nature of operations and 

principal activities of the Company are described in the Directors’ Report. 

 

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
1.1.1. Reporting Basis and Conventions 

 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements of 

the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Norfolk Metals Limited is a listed 

public company, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars. 
 

Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in the 
financial statements containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to 

which they apply. Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and 

notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Material accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below. They have been consistently applied unless 

otherwise stated. 
 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, 
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial 

liabilities. 

 

1.1.2. Comparatives  
 

When required by accounting standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in 
presentation for the current financial year.  

 

1.1.3. Basis of Consolidation 
  

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Norfolk Metals (‘the Company’) and 
its subsidiary (‘the Group’). Subsidiaries are those entities over which the Company has the power to govern the 

financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential 
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether a Company 

controls another entity. 
 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, income and 

expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-company transactions have been eliminated in full. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless costs cannot be recovered. 
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1.1.4. Going Concern 
  

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal 
business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  

 

The Group incurred a loss for the year of $645,949 (2023: $771,491) and net cash outflows from operating 
activities of $555,330 (2023: $541,864). As at 30 June 2024, the Group has a working capital surplus of 

$3,056,906 (2023: $3,181,362). 
 

The directors have prepared a cash flow forecast, which indicates that the Group will have sufficient cash flows 

to meet all commitments and working capital requirements for the 12-month period from the date of signing this 
financial report.  

 
Based on the cash flow forecasts, the directors are satisfied that the going concern basis of preparation is 

appropriate.  
 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a.   Accounting Principles 

 
The financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the Norfolk Metals Limited. The 
Company has one subsidiary.  

 
b.   Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at-call with banks, other short- term highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are 
shown as borrowings in current liabilities on the statement of financial position. 

 
c.   Trade and Other Receivables 

 
Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed in 

the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 

reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 
 
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any expected credit loss. 

  
d.   Trade and Other Payables 

 
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the Company that remain 

unpaid at the end of the reporting period. Due to their short-term nature, they are measured at amortised 
cost and are not discounted. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid 

within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 
 

e.   Provisions and Employee Benefits 
 

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

When the Company expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance 
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of 
any reimbursement. 
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to 

settle the present obligation at the reporting date using a discounted cash flow methodology. The risks specific 
to the provision are factored into the cash flows and as such a risk-free corporate bond rate relative to the 

expected life of the provision is used as a discount rate. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 

provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised in finance 

costs. 
 

Employee leave benefits 
 

(i)   Wages, salaries, annual leave and sick leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled 
with 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting 

date. Liabilities for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in the current provision for the employee benefits. They are measured at the amounts expected 

to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when 

the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. For annual leave, expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 

terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 

(ii)   Long Service Leave 

The liability for long service leave is recognised and measured as the present value of expected future 
payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures, and periods of 
service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate 
bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows. 

 
f.   Issued Capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

g.   Income Tax 
 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities based on the current period’s taxable income.  The tax rates 

and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting 

date. 
 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of 
assets, liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial statements purposes. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry- forward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses 
can be utilised. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Tax consolidation legislation 

 
The consolidated entity has applied the stand-alone taxpayer approach in determining the appropriate amount 

of current taxes and deferred taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. The current and 
deferred tax amounts are measured in a systematic manner that is consistent with the broad principles in 

AASB 112 Income Taxes. 
 

Members of the tax consolidated group have not entered into a tax funding agreement and as no current tax 

assets or liabilities or deferred tax assets are recognised in relation to tax losses or unused tax credits, no 
contributions or distributions are required to be made under AASB Int 1052 Tax Consolidation Accounting. 

 
 
h.   Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). 
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement 
of financial position. 
 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from financing and 
investing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows 
included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers. 

 
i.   Borrowings and Borrowing Costs 

 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Borrowings are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred 
to another party and the consideration paid, including any non- cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, 
is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs. 
 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
 
Borrowing costs include interest expense calculated using the effective interest method, finance charges in 
respect of finance leases, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent 
that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. 
 
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred, except for borrowing costs incurred as part of the cost of the 
construction of a qualifying asset, which are capitalised until the asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 

 

j.   Financial Instruments 
 

Recognition, initial measurement and recognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are measured 
initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except for those carried “at fair value through profit or 
loss”, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss. Where available, quoted prices in an active 
market are used to determine the fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below. 
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
Trade receivables (if applicable) are initially measured at the transaction price if the receivables do not contain 
a significant financing component in accordance with AASB 15. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is 
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
Financial assets 
 
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). 
 
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets other than those designated and effective as 
hedging instruments, are classified into the following categories upon initial recognition: 

•   amortised cost; 

•   fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 

•   fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 

Classifications are determined by both: 

• The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets; and 

• The entities business model for managing the financial asset. 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost 
 
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVPL): 

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its 
contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting 
is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade and 
most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
The Company measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met: 

• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding; and 

• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial asset. 
 
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment 
losses or reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for 
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. 
 
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under AASB 132 
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) 

 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the period ended 30 June 2024  
 

NORFOLK METALS LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT Page 37 

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
k.   Financial liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. 

 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs 
unless the Company designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except 
for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with 
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. 

 
All interest-related charges and, if applicable, gains and losses arising on changes in fair value are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

l.  Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 

classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 

in the company's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted 

from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other 
assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company's normal operating 
cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 

reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

m.   Segment Reporting 

Operating segments are now reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting to the Chief 

Operating Decision Maker, which has been identified by the Company as the Managing Director and other 
members of the Board of Directors. 

The Company has identified its operating segment based on the internal reports that are reviewed and 

used by the Board of Directors in assessing performance and determining the allocation of resources. 

Reportable segments disclosed are based on aggregating operating segments, where the segments have 
similar characteristics. For the current reporting period, the Company’s sole activity was mineral exploration 

and resource development wholly within Australia, which is its only reportable segment. 

The reportable segment is represented by the financial statements forming this financial report.  

 

n.   Exploration Expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated and accounted for separately on an area of interest basis. 

An area of interest is represented by an exploration project, which may include multiple tenements within 

a single geographic region. 

 

For each area of interest, the Company makes an election regarding its treatment of exploration and 

evaluation expenditure (including the costs of tenement acquisitions) and whether it will be charged to the 

income statement as incurred, under the expense category “exploration expenditure” (or other appropriate 

expense category), or capitalised as an exploration and evaluation asset, or a combination thereof. 

An exploration and evaluation asset can only be recognised in relation to an area of interest if the following 

conditions are satisfied:   
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

a) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and  

b) at least one of the following conditions is also met:  

• the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 

development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; and  

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the end of the reporting 
period reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of 

economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the 
area of interest are continuing.  

Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditures are recorded as an exploration asset at cost less 

impairment charges. All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure are monitored for indicators of 

impairment. Where an impairment indicator is identified, an assessment is performed for each area of 
interest to which the exploration and evaluation expenditure is attributed. To the extent that capitalised 

expenditure is not expected to be recovered it is charged to the income statement. 

 

o.   Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The Directors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on 

historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of 

future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the 
Company. 

Deferred Exploration and evaluation Expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure includes prepaid project acquisition costs that have been capitalised 

on the basis that the Company will complete the acquisition of mineral licenses / leases where it has entered 
into a binding share purchase agreement. Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised 

which includes determining expenditures directly related to these activities and allocating overheads 
between those that are expensed and capitalised. 

Share-based payment transactions: 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and third parties by 

reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value 
at the grant date is determined using the Black and Scholes option pricing model taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  

 

p.   Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill 

The Company assesses at each balance date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 

If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company 

makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is 

determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or Company of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be 

estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 

its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 
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SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount 

(in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 

 

An assessment is also made at each balance date as to whether there is any indication that previously 

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 

recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable 

amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 

 

Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case 

the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted 
in future years to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic 

basis over its remaining useful life. 

 

q.   New and amended accounting standards 

The Company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 

the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

 

r.   New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations issued by the AASB which are 

not yet mandatorily applicable to the Company have not been applied in preparing these financial 

statements. The Company has not elected to adopt any new Accounting Standards or Interpretations prior 
to their applicable date of implementation.  

 

There are no standards that are not yet effective and that would be expected to have a material impact on 

the Company in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the period ended 30 June 2024  
 

NORFOLK METALS LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT Page 40 

 

2. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Current   
Cash at bank  3,069,724 3,209,542 

Closing Balance  3,069,724 3,209,542 

 

3. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Prepayment 13,346 15,059 

GST receivable  21,950 24,445 
Interest accrual 37,878 27,134 

Equity applications receivable 1 - 99,996 
Other Debtors - 1,800 

Closing Balance  73,174 168,434  

 
1 – On 29 June 2023 the company issued 9,999,808 NFLO Quoted Options. The funds for these options were 
received into the Company from the share registry in July 2023. 

 

4. CAPITALISED EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Opening Balance: 1,988,500 1,343,382 

Exploration Expenditure during the year 826,890 785,118 
Adjustment of contingent consideration1 (70,000) (140,000) 

Closing Balance  2,745,390 1,988,500 
 

¹ As an outcome of the exploration works undertaken during the year management have reassessed the 

percentage probability of vesting of existing Performance Rights and have reduced the probability from 50% at 
30 June 2023 to 25% at 30 June 2024. This has led to a deduction of capitalised acquisition costs. 

 
The ultimate recoupment of the expenditure is dependent upon the successful development and commercial 
exploitation or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 
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5. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Motor Vehicles   

Opening Balance 39,804 32,890 

Additions 0 16,356 

Disposals 21,945 - 

Depreciation (7,562) (9,442) 

Closing Balance  10,297 39,804 

 

 

6. OTHER ASSETS 

 

As At  
30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 

   

Tenement Bond 59,000 34,000 

Closing Balance  59,000 34,000 

 

7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Trade Payables 65,014 166,495 

Other Payables and Accrued Expense 20,979 20,309 

Closing Balance  85,993 186,804 

 

Trade creditors and other creditors are non-interest bearing and generally payable on 30-day terms. Due to the 
short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

 

8. OTHER LIABILITIES  
 

 

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

Insurance Premium Funding  - 9,810 

Closing Balance  - 9,810 
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9. ISSUED CAPITAL 
 
 As At  

30 June 2024 
No. 

As At  

30 June 2023 
No. 

Fully paid ordinary shares  40,915,932 33,000,000 

 

 
As At  

30 June 2024 
As At  

30 June 2023 

 No. $ No. $ 

Opening Balance 33,000,000 5,524,876 33,000,000 5,534,098 

Issue of placement shares 5,000,000 1,000,000 - - 
Issue of shares in lieu of cash 

settlement 
144,289 25,500 

- - 
Issue of placement shares 2,771,643 415,746 - - 

Capital raising costs  (226,009) - (9,222) 

Balance at end of the year 40,915,932 6,740,113 33,000,000 5,524,876 

 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion to the 

number of shares held. At the shareholders’ meetings, each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is 
called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

 
(a) Terms of Ordinary Shares 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the 

number of shares held and in proportion to the amount paid up on the shares held. 
 

At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote in proportion to the paid-up amount of the 
share when a poll is called, otherwise each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

 

(b) Performance rights 
 

 

 2024 
No. 

2023 
No. 

Performance Rights 1,400,000 1,400,000 

 
During the prior period the company granted performance rights for the acquisition of the roger river project. 

The rights will be converted on a 1:1 basis subject to the satisfaction of the Company having delineated a maiden 
JORC code compliant Mineral Resource at the Roger River Tenements of at least 250,000 ounces @1.0g/t AU. 

Management has assigned a 100% probability of the target being achieved at acquisition date. The performance 
rights have been assigned a value of $0.20 per performance right, which was based on the initial public offering 

of the company. This has led to a total value of $280,000 being recognised in note 10.  

 
As an outcome of the exploration works undertaken during the year, management have reassessed the percentage 

probability of the vesting of existing Performance Rights and have reduced the probability from 50% at 30 June 
2023 to 25% at 30 June 2024. This has led to a deduction of capitalised acquisition costs as disclosed in Note 4. 
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(c) Capital risk management  
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so 

that it may continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 
 

Given the nature of the Company’s activities in mineral exploration, it does not have ready access to credit facilities, 

with the primary source of funding being equity raisings and borrowings from related parties. Accordingly, the 
objective of the Company’s capital risk management was to balance its working capital position against the 

requirements of the Company to meet exploration programmes and overheads. This was achieved by maintaining 
appropriate liquidity to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating appropriate capital 

raisings as required.  

 
The working capital position of the Company at 30 June 2024 are as follows: 

 

  

As At  

30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 

$ 

  $ $ 

      

Cash and cash equivalents 3,069,724 3,209,542 

Trade and other receivables 103,568 168,434 

Trade and other payables (85,993) (186,804) 

Other Liabilities - (9,810) 

Working capital position 3,087,299 3,181,362 

 

10. RESERVE 

 

 

As At  
30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 

Opening Balance: 1,140,227 1,081,388 
Issue of Director Options/rights (share-based payment expensed) - 98,841 

Issue of Broker Options (cost of equity) 118,638 - 
Issue of NFLO Quoted options 10,000 99,998 

Adjustment of contingent consideration1 (70,000) (140,000) 

Closing Balance  1,198,865 1,140,227 

 

¹ As an outcome of the exploration works undertaken during the year, management have reassessed the 

percentage probability of the vesting of existing Performance Rights and have reduced the probability from 50% 
at 30 June 2023 to 25% at 30 June 2024. This has led to a deduction of capitalised acquisition costs as disclosed 

in Note 4. 
 

The Broker Options are defined as share-based payments. The valuation of share-based payment transactions is 

measured by reference to fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair 
value is determined using the Black-Scholes model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 

options were granted. 
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ITEM 

VALUE OF 
INPUT 

Broker 

Options 

Fair value per instrument $0.2373 

Number of options 500,000 

Expected volatility 100% 

Implied option life 3 years 

Expected dividend yield Nil 

Risk free rate 4.14% 

Exercise Share Price $0.30 

Underlying share price at 

grant date 
$0.335 

Total Fair Value $118,638 

 

Share options and weighted average exercise prices are as follows for the reporting periods presented:  

 

 2024 2023 

 

No. of 

options 

Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

of options 

No. of 

options 

Weighted 

average 
exercise price 

of options 

Balance at beginning of financial year 19,489,808 0.27 8,500,000 0.25 
Granted 1,500,000 0.30 10,989,808 0.30 

Forfeited  - - - - 
Exercised - - - - 

Expired - - - - 

Outstanding at end of the financial year 20,989,808 0.27 19,489,808 0.27 

Options exercisable as end of the financial 

year:  20,989,808 0.27 19,489,808 0.27 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was 2.4 years.   
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

  

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

(a) The components of tax expense comprise   

Current income tax benefit 181,145 189,591 

Deferred tax income  375,461 175,605 

Tax losses not recognised (556,606) (365,195) 

 - - 

 

  

As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

(b) The prima facie tax on loss from continuing activities 

before tax is reconciled to the income tax expense as follows: 
  

Prima facie tax benefit on loss from continuing activities before income 

tax at 25%  
  

- Consolidated Entity 161,487 192,873 

Add:   

Tax effect of:   

- Capital raising costs 19,658 21,428 

Less:   

Tax effect of:   

- share based payments - (24,710) 

Tax effect of losses and temporary differences not recognised as 
deferred tax assets 

(181,145) (189,591) 

Income tax expense attributes - - 

 

(c) Unrecognised deferred tax balances   

Deferred Tax Liabilities    

Deferred exploration & evaluation costs 2,745,390 1,988,500 

Other 51,224 42,191 

 2,796,614 2,030,691 

Tax effect @ 25% 699,154 507,573 

Deferred tax assets   

Other 533,244 516,051 

Tax losses ** 3,913,880 3,178,985 

 4,447,124 3,695,036 

Tax effect @ 25% 1,111,781 923,759 

Net deferred tax asset not recognised 412,628 416,086 

 
The Company has not recognised any deferred tax assets or liabilities. These benefits will only be obtained if: 
(i)  the Company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefits from the 
deduction for the losses to be realised; 
(ii) the Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and 
(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company in realising the benefit from the deduction for the losses. 

 

(d) Franking credits 

The Company has no franking credits available.  
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12. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

  

(i) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of the 

financial instruments is to earn the maximum amount of interest at a low risk to the Group. The Group also has 

other financial instruments such as trade debtors and creditors which arise directly from its operations. For the 
period under review, it has been the Group’s policy not to trade in financial instruments. 

 
The directors’ overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the Group in meeting its financial targets, whilst 

minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance. 

 
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis. These include 

the credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements. 
 

Financial Risk Exposures and Management 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and credit risk. The board 
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below: 

 
(a) Foreign Currency Risk 

 The Group is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies. 
 

(b) Interest Rate Risk 

The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on short term deposits. The policy is to 
monitor the interest rate yield curve out to 120 days to ensure a balance is maintained between the 

liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. The Group does not currently have short or long-term 
debt, and therefore this risk is minimal. 

 

Sensitivity analysis 
An increase of 50 basis points in interest rates would not have had a material impact on the Consolidated 

Entity’s profit or loss. 
 

(c) Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 

financial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted the policy of only dealing with credit worthy 

counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

 
The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any Group of 

counterparties having similar characteristics. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 

financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk. 

 
 

 

As At  
30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 
Cash and Cash equivalents AA  3,069,724 3,209,542 

 

 

(d) Liquidity Risk 
The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows. The Group does not have any 

significant liquidity risk as the Group does not currently have any collateral debts. 
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(e) Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 

equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters, while optimising the return. 
 

(f) Valuation techniques 
 

In the absence of an active market for an identical asset or liability, the Company selects and uses one or 

more valuation techniques to measure the fair value of the asset or liability, The Company selects a 

valuation technique that is appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available to 
measure fair value. The availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily depends on the specific 

characteristics of the asset or liability being measured. The valuation techniques selected by the Company 
are consistent with one or more of the following valuation approaches: 

 

Market approach: valuation techniques that use prices and other relevant information generated by market 
transactions for identical or similar assets or liabilities.  

 
Income approach: valuation techniques that convert estimated future cash flows or income and expenses 

into a single discounted present value. 

 
Cost approach: valuation techniques that reflect the current replacement cost of an asset at its current 

service capacity. 
 

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation technique, 

the Company gives priority to those techniques that maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise 

the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that are developed using market data (such as publicly available 
information on actual transactions) and reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would generally 

use when pricing the asset or liability are considered observable, whereas inputs for which market data is 
not available and therefore are developed using the best information available about such assumptions 

are considered unobservable. 

 
Aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at balance date: 

 
 2024 2023 

 Carrying 
Amount 

$ 

Carrying 
Amount 

$ 
Net Fair Value 

$ 
Net Fair Value 

$ 

Financial Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 3,069,724 3,069,724 3,209,542 3,209,542 

Trade and other receivables 73,175 73,175 168,434 168,434 
Total Financial Assets 3,142,899 3,142,899 3,377,976 3,377,976 
 
Financial Liabilities 

    

Trade and other liabilities 85,993 85,993 186,804 186,804 

Other liabilities - - 9,810 9,810 
Total Financial Liabilities 85,993 85,993 196,614 196,614 
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 As At  

30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 

$ 

   

(a) Loss used in the calculation of basic loss per share 645,949 771,491 

   

  Number of 
shares 

Number of 
shares 

(b) Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

financial year used in calculation of basic earnings per share 36,468,186 33,000,000 

 

14. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 

The Company has adopted AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’ which requires operating segments to be identified on 

the basis of internal reports about components of the Company that are reviewed by the chief operating decision 
maker (considered to be Board of Directors) in order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its 

performance. The chief operating decision maker of the Company reviews internal reports prepared as 
consolidated financial statements and strategic decisions of the Company are determined upon analysis of these 

internal reports.  
 

The Company operates in the mineral exploration sector in Australia. All assets and liabilities are held in Australia.  

 

15. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
At the time of this report there were no events subsequent to the reporting date that required disclosure. 

 
16. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of other financial assets and liabilities recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair value.  
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17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
During the year ended 30 June 2024 the following related party transaction was undertaken between the Group 

and director related entities: 
 

a) Key Management Personnel compensation 

The totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel during the year are as follows: 

 

 
As At  

30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 

   
Short-term salary, fees and commissions 284,914 246,326 

Post-employment superannuation - - 

Share based payments - 98,841 

Total key management personnel compensation 284,914 375,167 

 

b) Other related party transactions 

 

No other related party transactions are noted in the current and prior financial years. 
 

18. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  
 As At  

30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 

   

Remuneration of the auditor for:   

Audit or review of the financial report of the Company   

and controlled entities: 26,660 23,736 

 26,660 23,736 
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19. CASH FLOW INFORMATION  
 
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with loss after income tax 

 

 As At  

30 June 2024 
$ 

As At  

30 June 2023 
$ 

   

Loss after income tax expense for the year (645,949) (771,491) 

   

Share Based payment Expense - 98,841 

Depreciation Expenses 7,562 9,442 

Finance expenses - 4,018 

Gain/ Loss on PPE (11,092) - 

Exploration expenditure 122,710 - 
 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

  

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (6,544) 26,604 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (22,017) 90,722 

 (555,330) (541,864) 

 

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
20.1. TENEMENT RELATED COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
The Company is required to meet minimum committed expenditure requirements to maintain current rights of 
tenure to exploration licences. These obligations may be subject to re-negotiation, may be farmed-out or may 

be relinquished and have not been provided for in the statement of financial position. A summary of aggregate 
commitments is as follows:  

 

 

As At  
30 June 2024 

$ 

As At  
30 June 2023 

$ 

Within one year 1,065,199 1,051,420 

One to five years 2,108,846 207,534 

 3,174,045 1,258,984 

 
Other than the above, there are no other contingencies or commitments.  

 

21. SUBSIDIARIES  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries: 

END 
 Country of 

Incorporation 
 

Class of 

Shares 
 

Equity 

holding  
2024 

Equity 

holding  
2023 

Roger River Resources Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% 100% 

Black Lake Pty Ltd Australia Ordinary 100% 100% 
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22. PARENT ENTITY NOTE 
The following details information related to the parent entity, Norfolk Metals Limited, at 30 June 2024. The 

information presented here has been prepared using consistent accounting policies as presented in Note 1. 

 

 

 2024 

$ 

 2023 

$ 

   

Current Assets  3,142,899 3,376,176 

Non-Current Assets 2,005,723 1,113,341 

Total Assets 5,148,622 4,489,517 

   

Current Liabilities 116,870 225,691 
Non-Current Liabilities - - 

Total Liabilities  116,870 225,691 

   

Net Asset/(Deficit)  5,031,752 4,263,826 

   

Contributed Equity 6,740,113 5,524,876 
Reserves 1,198,865 1,140,227 

Accumulated losses (2,907,226) (2,261,277) 

Total Equity  5,031,752 4,263,826 

   
Loss for the year (505,949) (768,015) 

Other Comprehensive Loss for the year - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (505,949) (768,015) 
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23. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES DISCLOSURE  
 

Controlled Entity 

Country of 

Incorporation 

Country of 
residency for 

tax purposes 

Type of 

entity 

Equity 
holding  

2024 

Equity 
holding  

2023 
Roger River Resources Pty Ltd Australia Australia Body corporate 100% 100% 

Black Lake Pty Ltd Australia Australia Body corporate 100% 100% 
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ADDITIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 
 

In accordance with ASX Listing Rule 4.10, the Company provides the following information to shareholders not 

elsewhere disclosed in the Annual Report. The information provided is current as at 13 September 2024. 
 

REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE COMPANY 
Unit 10, 85-87 Forrest Street 

Cottesloe WA 6011 
Ph: +61 (08) 6255 8625 

 

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING 
Quotation has been granted for 40,915,932 ordinary shares and 10,999,808 Quoted Options on the ASX. 

 
VOTING RIGHTS  

For all ordinary shares, voting rights are one vote per member on a show of hands and one vote per share in a 

poll.  
 

SHARE REGISTRY  
The registers of shares and options of the Company are maintained by: 

 

Automic Registry Services  
Level 5, 191 St Georges Terrace 

Perth WA 6000 
 

COMPANY SECRETARY  
The name of the Company Secretary is Arron Canicais.  

 

Corporate Governance 
The Company’s Corporate Governance Statement for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 can be found at: 

https://norfolkmetals.com.au/corporate-governance/. 
 
Information Pursuant to Listing Rule 4.10.19 
Between the date of the Company’s admission to the official list of the ASX on 18 March 2022 and the end of the 

reporting year on 30 June 2024, the Company used its cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that 
it had at the time of admission in a way consistent with its business objectives. 
 
Information Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.20 

The Company holds interests in the following tenements. 
The Roger River Project is comprised of licences held by Roger River Resources Pty Ltd and the Orooroo Project 

is comprised of licences held by Black Lake Pty Ltd. Roger River Resources Pty Ltd and Black Lake Pty Ltd are 
wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. Further details of the Roger River Project and Orooroo Project 

tenements are set out below. 

 

Tenement 

ID Project Holder/ Applicant 

Interest 

(%) 

Current 

Area 
(km2) 

Grant 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

EL20/2020 Roger River Roger River Resources Pty Ltd 100% 26 30/08/2021 15/08/2026 

EL17/2021 Roger River Roger River Resources Pty Ltd 100% 235 08/09/2022 07/09/2027 

EL6814 Orooroo Project Black Lake Pty Ltd 100% 379 12/08/2022 11/08/2028 

EL6552 Orooroo Project Black Lake Pty Ltd 100% 280 4/12/2020 3/12/2025 

EL6948 Orooroo Project Black Lake Pty Ltd 100% 64 6/11/2023 5/11/2029 
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SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS  

No entities have disclosed a substantial shareholder notice to the Company.  
 

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS 

 

Number of shares held 
Number of 

Shareholders 

Number of 

Ordinary 
Shares 

1 - 1,000 16 2,959 

1,001 - 5,000 182 611,286 

5,001 - 10,000 106 846,566 

10,001 - 100,000 238 9,319,899 

100,001 - 9,999,999,999 77 30,135,222 

Totals 619 40,915,932 

Holders with an unmarketable parcel 164 444,245  

 

EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS 
The names of the 20 largest holders of ordinary shares, and the number of ordinary shares and percentage of 

capital held by each holder is as follows: 
 

Position Holder Name Holding % of voting 

power 

1 INSTANT EXPERT PTY LIMITED <THE P JURKOVIC FAMILY A/C> 2,045,000 5.00% 

2 LOKTOR HOLDINGS PTY LTD 

<TAYBIRD A/C> 

1,658,606 4.05% 

3 RATATAT INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <RATATAT INVESTMENT A/C> 1,480,000 3.62% 

4 BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 1,442,000 3.52% 

5 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 1,372,019 3.35% 

6 PURESTEEL HOLDINGS PTY LTD 
<RATTIGAN SUPER FUND A/C> 

1,205,000 2.95% 

7 ROCKFLOWER PTY LTD 
<G DAVIS FAMILY A/C> 

1,050,000 2.57% 

8 JAKEL INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 

<JAKEL INVESTMENT A/C> 

950,000 2.32% 

9 BOSTOCK INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 943,796 2.31% 

10 MULLENS FAMILY SUPER FUND PTY LTD 

<MULLENS FAMILY S/F A/C> 

800,000 1.96% 

11 CAP HOLDINGS PTY LTD 

<CAP A/C> 

698,659 1.71% 

12 MS TATIANA GAI FARLEY 638,310 1.56% 

13 MR ALEXANDER MORGAN CRESWICK 600,000 1.47% 

14 MR JEREMY NICHOLAS TOLCON & 
MRS NADINE RUTH TOLCON 

<JEMINE SUPER FUND A/C> 

595,000 1.45% 

15 MRS NADINE RUTH TOLCON 575,000 1.41% 

16 MR MALCOLM GRUMMISCH 557,182 1.36% 

17 DELLTA PTY LTD 
<SLSD A/C> 

512,017 1.25% 

18 RAT CAPITAL PTY LTD 500,000 1.22% 

19 BROCKLEBANK PTY LTD 478,515 1.17% 

20 CONOMOS HOLDINGS PTY LTD 468,750 1.15% 

 Total 18,569,854 45.39% 

  Total issued capital - selected security class(es) 40,915,932 100.00% 
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DISTRIBUTION OF QUOTED OPTIONHOLDERS 

 

Number of shares held 

Number of 

Shareholders 

Number of 
Ordinary 

Shares 

1 - 1,000 10 6,811 

1,001 - 5,000 43 110,465 

5,001 - 10,000 22 164,937 

10,001 - 100,000 47 1,956,538 

100,001 - 9,999,999,999 23 8,761,057 

Totals 145 10,999,808 

Holders with an unmarketable parcel 51 107,276  

 

EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS 
The names of the 20 largest holders of NFLO Quoted Options, and the number of NFLO Quoted Options and 

percentage of capital held by each holder is as follows: 

 

Position Holder Name Holding % of voting 

power 

1 M & K KORKIDAS PTY LTD <M & K KORKIDAS PTY LTD A/C> 2,380,735 21.64% 

2 
BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 

814,000 7.40% 

3 LOKTOR HOLDINGS PTY LTD 

<TAYBIRD A/C> 

649,446 5.90% 

4 DC & PC HOLDINGS PTY LTD 
<DC & PC NEESHAM SUPER A/C> 

620,000 5.64% 

5 PURESTEEL HOLDINGS PTY LTD 

<RATTIGAN SUPER FUND A/C> 

500,000 4.55% 

6 SCINTILLA STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS LIMITED 431,880 3.93% 

7 CAP HOLDINGS PTY LTD 
<CAP A/C> 

431,053 3.92% 

8 ROCKFLOWER PTY LTD 

<G DAVIS FAMILY A/C> 

350,000 3.18% 

9 JP EQUITY HOLDINGS PTY LTD 340,000 3.09% 

10 LEONARDO PILAPIL 333,333 3.03% 

10 PCTV PTY LTD 

<TAURUS A/C> 

333,333 3.03% 

11 BOSTOCK INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 226,426 2.06% 

12 RIO SUPER PTY LTD 

<RIO GRANDE DO NORTE SF A/C> 

215,288 1.96% 

13 INSTANT EXPERT PTY LIMITED 

<THE P JURKOVIC FAMILY A/C> 

170,802 1.55% 

14 MR JASON BAILEY 167,442 1.52% 

15 MR DANIEL PETER WILLIAMS & MRS HAIDEE RACHEL 

WILLIAMS <DH WILLIAMS FAMILY A/C> 

166,666 1.52% 

16 MR JEREMY NICHOLAS TOLCON & MRS NADINE RUTH 

TOLCON <JEMINE SUPER FUND A/C> 

123,333 1.12% 

17 MRS NADINE RUTH TOLCON 116,666 1.06% 

18 WANG WANG TRADING PTY LTD 114,413 1.04% 

19 LARFRAE PTY LTD <LARFRAE SUPER FUND A/C> 113,506 1.03% 

20 FINCLEAR SERVICES PTY LTD <SUPERHERO SECURITIES 

A/C> 

107,414 0.98% 

 Total 8,705,736 79.14% 

 Total issued capital - selected security class(es) 10,999,808 100.00% 
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Escrowed Securities 

There are no escrowed securities on issue as at 12 September 2024. 

 

Unquoted Securities 

Category 

Number of  

Equity instruments 

Number of  

Holders 

Options exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 10 October 2026 2,900,000 12 

Options exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 18 November 2026 2,500,000 6 

Options exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 14 March 2027 3,100,000 7 

Options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 29 November 2026 990,000 3 

Performance Rights 1,400,000 2 

 

Distribution of option holders exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 10 October 2026: 

Number of Options held Number of Option Holders Number of 
Options 

1-1,000 - - 

1,001-5,000 - - 

5,001-10,000 - - 

10,001-100,000 1 75,000 

100,001-99,999,999 11 2,825,000 

Totals 12 2,900,000 

 

Option holders with more than 20% of the class of options: None 

 

Distribution of option holders exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 18 November 2026: 

Number of Options held Number of Option Holders Number of 

Options 

1-1,000 - - 

1,001-5,000 - - 

5,001-10,000 - - 

10,001-100,000 - - 

100,001-99,999,999 6 2,500,000 

Totals 6 2,500,000 

 

Option holders with more than 20% of the class of options: 

Name Number of Units Percentage 

BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 750,000 30.00% 

PCTV PTY LTD <TAURUS A/C> 600,000 24.00% 

WORLDVIEW INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <PRIMAVERA FRESH 

FAMILY A/C> 

500,000 20.00% 
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Distribution of optionholders exercisable at $0.25 each on or before 14 March 2027: 

Number of Options held Number of Option Holders Number of 

Options 

1-1,000 - - 

1,001-5,000 - - 

5,001-10,000 - - 

10,001-100,000 2 150,000 

100,001-99,999,999 5 2,950,000 

Totals 7 3,100,000 

 

Optionholders with more than 20% of the class of options: 

Name Number of Units Percentage 

BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 1,050,000 33.87% 

ROCKFLOWER PTY LTD 1,050,000 33.87% 

 

Distribution of optionholders exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 29 November 2026: 

Number of Options held Number of Option Holders Number of 
Options 

1-1,000 - - 

1,001-5,000 - - 

5,001-10,000 - - 

10,001-100,000 2 125,000 

100,001-99,999,999 5 1,365,000 

Totals 7 1,490,000 

 

Optionholders with more than 20% of the class of options: 

Name Number of Units Percentage 

BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 330,000 22.15% 

PCTV PTY LTD <TAURUS A/C> 330,000 22.15% 

WORLDVIEW INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <PRIMAVERA FRESH 
FAMILY A/C> 

330,000 22.15% 

 

Distribution of performance rights: 

Number of Options held Number of Option Holders Number of 
Options 

1-1,000 - - 

1,001-5,000 - - 

5,001-10,000 - - 

10,001-100,000 - - 

100,001-99,999,999 2 1,400,000 

Totals 2 1,400,000 

 

Holders with more than 20% of the class of performance rights: 

Name Number of Units Percentage 

ROCKFLOWER PTY LTD 840,000 60.00% 

BOB ALFRED PTY LTD <THE BOB ALFRED A/C> 560,000 40.00% 

 

  



ADDITIONAL SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2024 

 

NORFOLK METALS LIMITED | 2024 ANNUAL REPORT Page 58 

Buy-back 

There are no current on-market buy-back arrangements for the Company.  

 

Electronic Communications 

Norfolk Metals encourages shareholders to receive information electronically. Electronic communications allow 

Norfolk Metals to communicate with shareholders quickly and reduce the Company’s paper usage. 
Shareholders who currently receive information by post can log in at https://investor.automic.com.au/#/signup 

to provide their email address and elect to receive electronic communications. 

Norfolk Metals emails shareholders when important information becomes available such as financial results, 
notices of meeting, voting forms and annual reports. 

Norfolk Metals will issue notices of annual and general meetings and the annual report electronically where a 
shareholder has provided a valid email address, unless the shareholder has elected to receive a paper copy of 

these documents. 

Recent legislative changes to the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) effective 1 April 2022 mean there are new options 
available to shareholders as to how they elect to receive their communications. An important notice regarding 

these rights is available on Norfolk Metals’ website at https://norfolkmetals.com.au/right-to-receive-documents/  

For further information, please contact Norfolk Metals’ share registry, Automic, at hello@automic.com.au 
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